BIODEGRADATION OF MACONDO OIL BY AEROBIC HYDROCARBON–DEGRADING BACTERIA IN THE WATER COLUMN AND DEEPSEA SEDIMENTS OF THE NORTHERN GULF OF MEXICO

A thesis Presented to The Academic Faculty

by

Xiaoxu Sun

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree Master of Science in the School of Earth and Atmospheric Science

> Georgia Institute of Technology December 2014

Copyright© 2014 by Xiaoxu Sun

BIODEGRADATION OF MACONDO OIL BY AEROBIC HYDROCARBON–DEGRADING BACTERIA IN THE WATER COLUMN AND DEEPSEA SEDIMENTS OF THE NORTHERN GULF OF MEXICO

Approved by:

Dr. Joel Kostka, Advisor School of Earth and Atmospheric Science *Georgia Institute of Technology*

Dr. Martial Taillefert School of Earth and Atmospheric Science *Georgia Institute of Technology*

Dr. Yuanzhi Tang School of Earth and Atmospheric Science *Georgia Institute of Technology*

Date Approved: Nov. 17th 2014

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I wish to thank my advisor, Dr Joel Kostka. I cannot finish this without his tremendous help. Also, I would like to thank Dr Martial Taillefert and Dr. Yuanzhi Tang for being my committee members.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS ii		
LIST OF FIGURES vi		
LIST OF SYMBOLS AND ABBREVIATIONS vi		
SUMMARY		
CHAPTER		
1 Introduction	1	
2 Method	6	
2.1 Site description and sample collection	6	
2.2 Oil chemistry		
2.3 Seawater incubations		
2.4 Sediment incubations		
2.5 CO ₂ measurement		
2.6 Enrichment and isolation of hydrocarbon degrading bacteria		
2.7 Phylogenetic characterization of pure cultures	9	
2.8 Total petroleum hydrocarbon degradation	10	

	2.9 Microbial carbon use efficiency	10
3 Re	esult	11
	3.1 Nutrient limitation in the water column and deepsea sediment in the	
	northern Gulf of Mexico	11
	3.2 Microbial Community changes in enrichment cultures	12
	3.3 Isolates	15
	3.4 Total petroleum hydrocarbon degradation in pure culture	17
4 Di	scussion	22
	4.1 Hydrocarbon degradation and potential for nutrient limitation	22
	4.2 Hydrocarbon degrading bacteria cultivated from deepsea sediment	25
	4.3 Total petroleum hydrocarbon degradation	28
REFEREN	NCES	30

LIST OF FIGURES

Page

Figure 1: Map of average depth of oxygen penetration	2
Figure 2: Accumulation of CO ₂ in surface seawater	12
Figure 3: Accumulation of CO ₂ in deep seawater	13
Figure 4: Accumulation of CO ₂ in deepsea sediment	14
Figure 5: Characterization of microbial community composition	16
Figure 6: Phylogenetic analysis of isolated pure strains	19
Figure 7: Carbon balance during hydrocarbon degradation at room temperature	20
Figure 8: Carbon balance during hydrocarbon degradation at 4 $^{\circ}$ C	21

LIST OF SYMBOLS AND ABBREVIATIONS

y growth	Microbial Carbon Use Efficiency
μ	Carbon Assimilated into Biomass
R	Carbon Loss to Respiration
DWH	Deepwater Horizon
GOM	Gulf of Mexico
SI	Shannon Index

SUMMARY

Previous studies have come to contrasting conclusions regarding nutrient limitation of hydrocarbon biodegradation in the Gulf of Mexico, and rate measurements are needed to support oil plume modeling. Thus, this study investigates the rates and controls of biodegradation in seawater and sediments, largely in the deepsea. Sediment and seawater samples were collected on research cruises in the northern Gulf from 2012 to 2014, where the seafloor was impacted by the Deepwater Horizon (DWH) oil spill. Biodegradation was clearly limited by both nitrogen and phosphorus availability in surface waters with significant rates of CO₂ production (100 μ mol CO₂ l⁻¹ d⁻¹) only observed in treatments amended with ammonium and phosphate. In deepsea sediments, nutrient amendments resulted in an average of 6 fold higher degradation rates (0.49 µmol CO_2 g sed⁻¹ d⁻¹) compared to unamended controls. Microbial communities responded to oil contamination rapidly in a series of enrichment cultures, and selection was observed for populations of native hydrocarbon-degrading bacteria. Temperature was shown to be a major factor in controlling microbial community composition in the enrichments. At room temperature, community diversity in the enrichments was significantly reduced in the presence of oil, while under 4 $\,$ °C, the community diversity and evenness remained relatively high upon oil amendment. From the same deepsea sediments, 30 strains of known oil-degrading bacteria (Rhodococcus and Halomonas) were enriched and isolated with hexadecane, phenanthrene, and Macondo oil as the sole carbon and energy source. Detection of these strains in sequence libraries indicates that they may have contributed to the degradation of oil deposited onto the sediments. Rhodococccus strain PC20

viii

degraded approximately one-third of total petroleum hydrocarbons amended into cultures within 7 days. This work elucidates the controls of biodegradation and we provide model pure cultures to further elucidate the ecophysiology of hydrocarbon degradation, focusing on deepsea sediments of the northern Gulf of Mexico.

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

The Deepwater Horizon (DWH) oil discharge represents the largest accidental marine oil spill in human history. Approximately 4.9 billion barrel equivalents of oil were released into the Gulf of Mexico (GOM) over a period of 84 days. One of the unique characteristics about the DWH spill is the depth at which it occured¹. The oil was released from a depth of 1,500 m below the sea surface. According to the Oil Budget Calculator from the Federal response effort, only 25% of discharged oil was accounted for, and 75% remained in the environment². Out of the unaccounted 75%, 10% contributed to the surface oil slick, and 35% was directly detected in the deepsea oil plume³, which has been observed at a distance of up to 10 km from the wellhead^{4,5}. A recent study estimates that a 3200 km² region was contaminated surrounding the Macondo well, and 4 - 31% of the discharged oil was sequestered in the deepsea is necessary for assessing the environmental impacts of the spill.

Biodegradation of hydrocarbons by indigenous microorganisms is one of the major pathways by which oil contamination is eliminated from the oceans⁷. Hydrocarbon degrading bacteria are ubiquitously distributed in the marine environment, and their abundance increases significantly in the presence of hydrocarbon contamination^{8,9,10}. Oxygen availability is an important factor controlling the oil biodegradation process in both the marine water column and in the sediments. Aerobic hydrocarbon oxidation provides biochemically the highest amount of energy in comparison with other electron



Figure 1. Map of average depth of oxygen penetration

accepting conditions and thus this process is favored for microorganisms. Oxygen saturation within the DWH oil plume averaged 59%, which was 8% depleted relative to outside the plume, suggesting oxygen was consumed by microbial activity within the plume. Also, a majority of the enriched microbial groups were known aerobic hydrocarbon–degraders, with the majority closely related to the

Gammaproteobacteria^{4,11}.

Geochemical and microbiological evidence indicates that oil from the DWH spill was deposited under aerobic conditions at the seafloor of the GOM. A study of oxygen distribution at the sea floor in the northern GOM between 2012 and 2014 revealed that oxygen was not depleted in the top few centimeters around the wellhead and in the DeSoto Canyon area (unpublished results, Figure 1). Further, Mason et al. (2014) demonstrated that the most heavily oiled sediments in the top 1 cm depth were dominated by aerobic bacteria (uncultured *Gammaproteobacteria* and *Colwellia*) based on analysis of 16S rRNA gene sequences¹². Therefore, the aerobic degradation process likely dominated microbially mediated natural attenuation in both the water column and deepsea sediments in the northern GOM.

More accurate determination of the rates and controls of hydrocarbon biodegradation in the GOM are necessary for improvement of models that estimate the fate of spilled oil. A variety of modeling approaches are currently used to predict oil transport and persistence. Many factors, besides oxygen, such as nutrients, temperature, or microbial community composition control biodegradation potential, and therefore at least some of these environmental parameters should be used to constrain the models¹³. For the DWH event and other major spills, many biological model inputs, such as degradation rate and carbon use efficiency, have not been adequately considered¹⁴. As a result, biological activity is often not incorporated into oil plume modeling^{15,16,17}. Vilcaez et al. (2013) proposed a new model that incorporates biodegradation, but this model has not been applied extensively in the GOM¹⁸.

A supply of major nutrients, nitrogen and phosphorus, is critical for the biodegradation process, especially in the oligotrophic offshore waters around the wellhead in the GOM. Previous studies provided contrasting evidences for in situ nutrient limitation between the surface water and subsurface plumes. In the subsurface, Baelum et al. (2012) reported that nutrients were not limiting for hydrocarbon degradation in oil plume waters (1100 to 1200 m water depth)¹⁹, while in the surface oil slick, Edwards et al. (2011) reported that hydrocarbon degradation was limited by phosphorus in agreement with earlier studies of surface waters in the northern GOM^{20, 21}. These contrasting results

make sense given current knowledge of oceanography in the GOM. However, the relationship between nutrient availability and microbial activity requires further study. Indigenous microbial communities responded rapidly to the oil discharge. Many groups of hydrocarbon degrading bacteria were enriched during the spill. By far, the changes of microbial community composition were mostly identified and reported in the water column^{22,23} and in the shallow nearshore or coastal sediments^{8,24}. Both Hazen et al.

(2010) and Mason et al. (2012) reported that three major genera, Colwellia, *Cycloclasticus*, and a genus related to *Oleispira*, were enriched in the oil plume by using next generation sequencing approaches. In Rivers et al. (2013), metatranscriptomics revealed that Colwellia, Cycloclasticus, Methylobacter, and Methylococcus were active in the DWH oil plume. Kostka et al. (2011) found that groups affiliated with the Gammaproteobacteria, with representatives of genera Alcanivorax, Marinobacter, *Pseudomonas, and Acinetobacter,* were dominant in the microbial community in oiled beach sands. All of these groups were previously identified as hydrocarbon degrading bacteria, and these increases in relative abundance suggest that they were responsible for the *in situ* biodegradation process. Similar studies on the microbial community response to oil in deepsea sediments, however, are still rare. Mason et al. (2014) showed an uncultured Gammaproteobacteria and Colwellia increased in relative abundance in seafloor sediments near the Macondo well in response to oil deposition soon after the DWH discharge. Further investigation of the community responses will enhance the estimation of oil impacts in the deepsea environment.

In order to relate specific microbial taxa to the rates and pathways of hydrocarbon carbon degradation, further information is needed on the ecophysiology of hydrocarbon

degrading bacteria. Strains isolated from the GOM can be used as model systems for this purpose.

In previous research by the Kostka lab, 10 representative strains of hydrocarbon degrading bacteria were isolated and their genomes were sequenced^{8,25}. As has been shown in previous studies, genome analysis indicated that metabolic and hydrocarbon degradation potentials are strain–specific²⁶. Even for strains of the same species, the potential for hydrocarbon degradation may differ²⁵. While hydrocarbon degrading bacteria communities have been well studied in the water column^{19,22,27}, much less information is available from sedimentary communities, especially in the deepsea.

The objective of this study is to characterize the controls of aerobic hydrocarbon degradation in the water column and in deepsea sediments. Because of the paucity of information from the deepsea, hydrocarbon degrading bacteria were cultivated and representative strains were studied from that environment. While nutrient limitation affected hydrocarbon degradation in all environments studied, that limitation was most pronounced in surface waters^{20,21}.

CHAPTER II

METHOD

2.1 Site description and sample collection

Sediment and water samples were collected during multiple cruises (WB1306, WB1403, WB1411, and WB0814) on the R/V Weatherbird II from 2012 to 2014. Sites were sampled near the Macondo wellhead and in the DeSoto Canyon area, which is to the northeast of the wellhead in the northern GOM. The water depth of the sample sites varied from 1200 m to over 2000 m.

Water samples, both surface and plume water, were collected with Niskin bottles which were attached to a CTD sampling rosette (Sea–Bird Electronics INC., WA). Surface water samples were collected at 5 m below the sea surface. For the plume–depth samples, the samples were collected at 1000 m depth at site DWH01 and 10 m above the seafloor at site PCB06 (1200 m below sea surface). All water samples were stored at 4 °C prior to use.

Sediment cores were collected using a multi–coring device. During each deployment, a maximum of eight sediment cores were collected within 1 m diameter area of the seafloor. For microbial community characterization, cores were immediately sectioned into 2 mm intervals for the first 30 mm, 5 mm intervals for the 30 - 50 mm and 10 mm intervals for the 50 - 100 mm depth. Fractions were stored in sterile whirl–pak bags at –20 °C until transport to the lab, where they were stored at –80 °C before use. For cultivation work, cores were sectioned into three intervals, 0 - 3 cm, 3 - 5 cm, and 5 - 10 cm depth, with an extruder. Fractions were stored in sterilized plastic containers or Ziploc

bags at 4 $\,^{\circ}$ C before use. Sediment density and porosity were determined by drying a set volume of sediment to a constant mass at 60 $\,^{\circ}$ C.

2.2 Oil chemistry

BP has established the Knox Storage Archive, managed by AECOM, for the storage and control of reference oil material following the DWH discharge. All oil samples used in this study were obtained from the Knox facility. MC252 source oil, collected from the DWH wellhead, was used in a subset of experiments, and surrogate oil, collected from the Marlin Platform of the Dorado field, was used for the remainder. The surrogate oil was shown by BP scientists to contain a nearly identical chemistry and toxicity to the source oil²⁸.

2.3 Seawater incubations

Seawater incubations were performed in triplicate in 165 ml sealed serum bottles with 10 ml of seawater amended with 0.5% v/v of BP surrogate oil. Treatments were conducted in triplicate and included the following three sets of amendments: 32 μ M ammonium, 2 μ M phosphate, and both 32 μ M ammonium and 2 μ M phosphate. Triplicate unamended controls were also included. For surface water samples, microcosms were maintained at room temperature in the dark; for plume water, microcosms were kept at 4 °C in the dark. Light was excluded to prevent confounding effects from photochemical reactions.

2.4 Sediment incubations

Incubations were conducted with PCB06 sediments, which were collected from 1200 m water depth. All the incubations were conducted at 4 $\,^{\circ}$ C in the dark to simulate the in situ condition. Sediment incubations were carried out in sealed 155 ml serum bottles in triplicate. In each bottle, approximately 8 g of wet sediment was mixed with 24 ml of minimal artificial seawater medium²⁹ or filtered bottom seawater from the same site, and amended with 0.5% v/v of BP surrogate oil as the sole carbon source. A large headspace was used to maintain oxic conditions and the headspace was monitored at regular intervals for CO₂.

2.5 CO₂ measurement

At each time point, 150 μ l of headspace was removed with a gas tight syringe from the serum bottles. This volume was injected into a Shimadzu Gas Chromatograph (Shimadzu, Kyoto, Japan) equipped with a flame ionization detector. The packed column was maintained at 50 °C, and the injector was set at 350 °C. Dissolved inorganic carbon concentrations were calculated for the soluble and gas phase using Henry's law, with temperature and ionic strength effects taken into consideration.

2.6 Enrichment and isolation of aerobic hydrocarbon degrading bacteria

Enrichment cultures were established in 125 ml Erlenmeyer flasks with 2 g of sediment and 0.5% v/v MC252 oil in 20 ml of minimal artificial seawater medium, which was prepared according to Widdel $(2010)^{29}$. The enrichments were successively

transferred when the cultures reached stationary phase. For microbial community composition analysis, 10 ml of well mixed culture was sacrificed for DNA extraction.

Subsamples were taken from successive transfers of the enrichment cultures, and used as inocula on agar plates for the isolation of pure cultures. Solid media consisted of Zobell marine agar (HiMedia laboratories Pvt. Ltd., India) or minimal artificial seawater medium²⁹ with crude oil (Macondo oil), hexadecane (Acros, New Jersey), or phenanthrene (Acros, New Jersey), dissolved in heptamethylnonane, added as sole carbon source. Temperature and substrates were systematically varied in order to obtain microorganisms with diverse metabolisms. All incubations were conducted in the dark to eliminate photochemical effects.

2.7 Phylogenetic characterization of pure cultures

For pure culture identification, distinct colonies were directly picked from agar plates and the 16S rRNA gene was amplified with primer set 27F and 907R by polymerase chain reaction (PCR). Amplicons were first tested with electrophoresis on an agarose gel for designated amplification. Successfully amplified samples were then purified with the QIAquick PCR cleanup kit (QIAGEN, CA) and sent to University of Illinois at Chicago Research Resources Center for Sanger sequencing.

For community composition analysis, total genomic DNA was extracted with the MoBio Powersoil DNA extraction kit (MoBio Laboratories, Carlsbad, CA) from enrichment cultures following the manufacturer's protocol. Extracts are then amplified for 16S rRNA genes with primer set 27F and 907R by PCR. An agarose gel was employed for confirming designated amplification products. The amplification products were then sent out for sequencing. Sequences were analyzed by the software package

QIIME³⁰. The UCLUST algorithm was used to cluster sequences into operational taxonomic units (OTU) by 97% similarity³¹. OTUs were then classified using the RDP classification algorithm with a 50% confidence rating.

2.8 Total petroleum hydrocarbon degradation

Total Petroleum Hydrocarbons (TPH) were recovered from the culture medium for analysis. The entire culture volume was extracted using EPA method 3510C³². After extraction, a Turbovap (Biotage, Uppsala, Sweden) was used to accelerate the evaporation process. Extracts were then brought up to 1 ml with hexane (Sigma Aldrich, MO) and kept in 2 ml gas tight HPLC vials.

Shimadzu gas chromatography (Kyoto, Japan) with flame ionization detection and a capillary column was used for determining total petroleum hydrocarbon concentration. Helium was employed as the carrier gas at constant flow. During the separation of petroleum hydrocarbons, the initial oven temperature was set to 60 $\,^{\circ}$ C for 1 min, and then the temperature was gradually increased to 290 $\,^{\circ}$ C at the rate of 8 $\,^{\circ}$ C/min, where it was maintained for 6.75 min.

2.9 Microbial carbon use efficiency

The growth yield is defined in this study as ratio of growth to assimilation according to the following equation³³. The mathematical expression for this is

$$Y_{growth} = \frac{\mu}{\mu + R}$$

where μ is the amount of carbon assimilated into biomass, R is carbon loss to respiration.

CHAPTER III

RESULT

3.1 Nutrient limitation in the water column and deepsea sediment in the northern Gulf of Mexico

Hydrocarbon degradation rates were determined using the surface water from two sites (Figure 2. DWH01 and PCB06) with and without nutrient amendment. For both sites, little to no degradation was observed in unamended, $+NH_4^+$, and $+PO_4^{3-}$ treatments. Only the treatments with both NH_4^+ and PO_4^{3+} added showed a substantial degradation at averaged 100 µmol $CO_2 L^{-1} day^{-1}$ (ranging from 80 to 127 µmol $CO_2 L^{-1} day^{-1}$).

Hydrocarbon degradation rates were measured in the deep water from the same sites. Hydrocarbon degradation was observed in all treatments beginning at 6 days of incubation. A higher rate and extent of hydrocarbon degradation was observed in treatments amended with both NH_4^+ and PO_4^{3-} (Figure 3a). In the bottom water from site PCB06 (1200 m below sea surface), there was a lag phase for 6 days, after that the hydrocarbon degradation gradually commenced at rates of 47.3 µmol CO₂ L^{-1} day⁻¹ (ranging from 39.8 to 52.7 µmol CO₂ L^{-1} day⁻¹) in unamended, $+NH_4^+$, and $+PO_4^{3-}$ treatments until reaching a plateau on day 17. By comparison, treatments amended with both NH_4^+ and PO_4^{3-} revealed a 2X faster degradation rate averaging at 126 µmol CO₂ L^{-1} day⁻¹ (ranging from 114 to 144 µmol CO₂ L^{-1} day⁻¹). Similar patterns were observed in DWH01 bottom water, which was collected at the depth of 1000 m below surface (Figure 3b). Biodegradation rates at DWH01 averaged 55 µmol CO₂ L^{-1} day⁻¹ (ranging

from 39.7 to 61.2 μ mol CO₂ L⁻¹ day⁻¹) for unamended, +NH₄⁺, and +PO₄³⁻ treatments, while

a) DWH01



b) PCB06



Figure 2. Accumulation of CO₂ in incubations of surface seawater collected from the northern GOM with 0.5% surrogate oil added as the sole carbon substrate. a) DWH01, adjacent to the Macondo Well., b) PCB06, 100 km to the northeast of the Macondo Well

a) DWH01



b) PCB06



Figure 3. Figure 2. Accumulation of CO_2 in incubations of deep seawater collected from the northern GOM with 0.5% surrogate oil added as the sole carbon substrate. a) DWH01, adjacent to the Macondo Well., b) PCB06, 100 km to the northeast of the Macondo Well

a) Nutrient replete minimal medium



b) Filtered Seawater



Figure 4. Accumulation of CO_2 in incubations of sediment collected from site PCB06 (1200 m water depth) in the northern GOM with and without Macondo oil added as the sole carbon substrate. a) Incubations conducted in minimal medium replete with major nutrients. b) Incubations conducted in filtered seawater without added nutrients.

degradation rates averaged 102 μ mol CO2 L⁻¹ day⁻¹ (ranging from 95 to 122 μ mol CO2 L⁻¹ day⁻¹) in the treatments with both NH₄⁺ and PO4³⁻ added.

Hydrocarbon degradation rates were quantified in incubations of PCB06 sediment with and without added nutrients (Figure 4). In the nutrient replete medium, the average degradation rate was 2.21 μ mol CO₂ g⁻¹dwt d⁻¹ (ranging from 2.04 to 2.37 μ mol CO₂ g⁻¹dwt d⁻¹) after a lag phase of 15 days. No lag phase was observed in the unamended treatments, and the average degradation rate was 0.37 μ mol CO₂ g dwt⁻¹ d⁻¹ (ranging from 0.36 to 0.39 μ mol CO₂ g dwt⁻¹ d⁻¹).

3.2 Microbial Community changes in enrichment cultures

Microbial communities were characterized in a series of enrichment cultures, inoculated with PCB06 sediment and incubated at room temperature or 4 °C (Figure 5). Communities were also characterized in sediments used as a source inoculum for the enrichments. The in situ microbial community was determined to contain the highest microbial diversity and evenness with a Shannon Index (SI) of 2.5. The in situ community was evenly distributed between various groups, with the two dominant groups detected, *Xanthomondales* of the *Gammaproteobacteria* and the *Nitrosopumilus* of the *Crenarchaeota*, accounting for 5.7% and 5% of the total sequences, respectively. Primary enrichments demonstrated a lower microbial diversity when incubated both at room temperature and 4 °C. At room temperature, the Shannon diversity significantly decreased in subsequent transfers, from a SI of 1 (primary enrichment) to 0.6 (4th transfer) and finally to 0.05 (6th transfer). A group of unclassified *Flavobacteriaceae* in the *Bacteroidetes* accounted for approximately 39% of sequences retrieved from the primary enrichment at room temperature, whereas *Microbulbifer* of the *Gammaproteobacteria*



Figure 5. Characterization of microbial community composition in enrichment cultures by next generation sequencing of SSU rRNA genes. Histograms represent communities from the environment (1 from left) and the following enrichments: primary, fourth and sixth transfer incubated at room temperature (2–4 from left); primary, third, and fourth transfer incubated at 4 °C (5–7 from left).

was the second most abundant group, accounting for 13% of total sequences. In the later transfers, the community composition changed dramatically. In both the 4th and 6th transfers, the dominant microbial group was the genus *Rhodococcus* of the *Actinobacteria*. The abundance of this OTU reached 96% in the 6th transfer microcosms. In the 4 °C microcosms, the microbial community maintained a similar diversity among the primary and subsequent transfers, changing from a SI of 1.3 (primary enrichment) to 1 (3rd transfer) and rebounding to 1.2 (4th transfer). In the primary enrichment, the dominant group was an unclassified clade within the *Gammaproteobacteria*, accounting for 17% of the total sequences. The second most abundant group belonged to the family *Colwelliaceae* of the *Gammaproteobacteria*. In subsequent transfers, other OTUs were dominant. In the 3rd transfer, *Shewanella benthica* dominated, accounting for 31.8% of the total community. The *Colwelliaceae* family still remained at 18% of the total community. In the subsequent transfer, dominance shifted to the genus *Photobacterium* of the *Gammaproteobacteria*.

3.3 Isolates

Pure cultures were isolated from two different sites, PCB06 and DSH10. Twenty–six *Rhodococcus* strains (PC1–2, PC 5–28) and two *Halomonas* strains (*PC3, 4*) were isolated under various culture conditions from PCB06 sediment. Two strains of *Halomonas* (*PC29, 30*) were isolated on crude oil at 4 °C from DSH10 sediment. Sanger sequencing and RISA results indicated that all 26 *Rhodococcus* strains and the 4 *Halomonas* strains showed nearly 100% sequence identity of rRNA genes. The *Rhodococcus* strains, gram positive bacteria of the phylum *Actinobacteria*, share 99% sequence identity with *Rhodococcus erythropolis*. The *Halomonas* strains, a genus within the *Gammaproteobacteria*, are nearly identical to *Halomonas campaniensis*³⁴. Therefore, only representative isolates were chosen for phylogenetic and physiological characterization (Figure 6).

3.4 Total petroleum hydrocarbon degradation in pure culture

The hydrocarbon degradation ability of *Rhodococcus sp.* strain *PC20* was tested (Figure 7). Strain PC20 appeared to produce its own dispersant as the oil layer was emulsified and formed aggregates after three days of incubation. At room temperature, after a 3 day lag phase, GC amenable compounds decreased by approximately 33% in inoculated treatments relative to uninoculated controls. Over the same period, an average of 1.3 mg C was assimilated into biomass in each culture, while 0.5 mg C was mineralized to DIC and CO_2 , resulting in a carbon use efficiency on crude oil of approximately 72%

Similar results were obtained over a longer incubation period with *Rhodococcus* at 4 $^{\circ}$ C (Figure 8). After 21 days of incubation, an average of 33% of the amended oil was utilized. Meanwhile, 1.3 mg C was assimilated into biomass and 0.5 mg C was respired. The growth yield estimated by carbon use efficiency was 71%.



Figure 6. Phylogenetic analysis of SSU rRNA genes from pure cultures of hydrocarbon degrading bacteria isolated from deepsea sediments collected from the nothern GOM. Isolates show high sequence identity to known oil-degraders of the *Rhodococcus* and *Halomonas* genera.

a) Substrate



b) Product



Figure 7. Degradation of crude oil by a pure culture of *Rhodococcus* strain PC20 at the room temperature as: a) mass loss of total petroleum hydrocarbons, and b) accumulation of CO2 or cell carbon.

a) Substrate







Figure 8. . Degradation of crude oil by a pure culture of *Rhodococcus* strain PC20 at the 4 $^{\circ}$ C, as: a) mass loss of total petroleum hydrocarbons, and b) accumulation of CO2 or cell carbon.

CHAPTER IV

DISCUSSION

4.1 Hydrocarbon degradation and potential for nutrient limitation

Microbial communities responded rapidly to oil contamination from the DWH oil discharge, but this response was likely limited by many factors, including the availability of major nutrients¹⁴. Previous studies have come to contrasting conclusions with regard to nutrient limitation of the hydrocarbon degradation in the surface and deep waters of the northern GOM, where ambient nutrient concentrations differ. In offshore oligotrophic waters, nutrients, especially phosphate, are depleted in the top 200 m depth due to uptake by photosynthetic microorganisms, and nutrient concentrations gradually increase with depth below the photic zone due to organic matter remineralization. Therefore, in this study, we investigated and compared the degradation potentials between the surface and deep water in the northern GOM. We hypothesized that 1) nutrients will be limiting for hydrocarbon–degrading microbial communities in the surface water but not in bottom water, and 2) the different ambient temperatures at each depth, the degradation rate will be slower in the deep water.

The most pronounced nutrient limitation was indeed observed in incubations of surface water. Previous studies showed that offshore surface water of the GOM was oligotrophic, and phosphorus addition increased respiration rates and bacterial secondary production²¹. Edwards et al. (2011) reported that alkaline phosphatase activity was up regulated within oil slicks, which indicates enhanced phosphorus stress²⁰. In the present study, the production of CO₂ from aerobic respiration was used as a proxy for

hydrocarbon degradation. Only surface seawater incubations amended with both NH_4^+ and PO_4^{3-} showed substantial hydrocarbon degradation, which indicates that nitrogen availability also limits activity at the surface. This observation agrees with the findings of Turner et al. (2013), which showed that microbial growth was limited by nitrogen or co–limited by both N and P in the northern GOM³⁵. Respiration rates reported here are approximately three times higher than those reported by Edwards et al. (2011) for the Gulf surface water²⁰. The difference in the rates could be caused by the low oil concentration (1.9 mg l⁻¹: 0.0002% v/v)³⁶ in the oil slicks studied by Edwards et al. (2011), which was at least three orders of magnitude lower than oil additions in this study.

As predicted from ambient nutrient levels, nutrient limitation had less of an effect in incubations of deep water. Hydrocarbon degradation did not appear to be nutrient limited in the early stages of the incubations. In the later stage of the incubations, however, the degradation terminated possibly due to the depletion of nutrients. In the unamended controls as well as treatments amended with NH_4^+ or PO_4^{3-} only, respiration rates (approximately 56.8 µmol $CO_2 L^{-1} day^{-1}$) were similar to those reported by Baelum et al. for the subsurface oil plume¹⁹. The treatments amended with NH_4^+ and PO_4^{3-} exhibited higher respiration rates, which were about twice those observed in all other treatments at both sites investigated in the present study.

Observations on nutrient limitation generally supported our hypothesis that rates would track with the in situ availability of major nutrients^{4,21,37}. Moreover, when major nutrients were not limiting, similar hydrocarbon degradation rates were observed in both surface and deep waters, despite the large difference in incubation temperatures (~18

 $^{\circ}$ C)³⁸. This suggests that for indigenous microbial communities in the deep water column of the northern GOM, temperature is not the primary limiting factor for hydrocarbon degradation potential. Rather, the availability of major nutrients and carbon appears to be more important for *in situ* degradation processes. Although biodegradation rates were quantified in surface oil slicks and subsurface plumes in the northern Gulf immediately after the DWH discharge, this study reports the first comparison of rates measured across nutrient gradients at different water depths and in sediments of the same site.

Nutrient addition had a less pronounced effect on hydrocarbon degradation in incubations of deepsea sediments. However, nutrient amendment still accelerated the degradation process. Similar observations were also made by Mortazavi et al (2013)³⁹ in incubations of sandy sediments from a beach at the Dauphin Island. Hydrocarbon degradation rates were two times higher in sediments amended with laurylcholine, a carbon and nitrogen source, in comparison to unamended controls. A maximum respiration rate of 55 μ mol CO₂ g dwt⁻¹ d⁻¹ was observed in incubations of beach sands amended with oil, and with laurylcholine chloride addition, the rate increased by 67%. Singh et al. (2014) also reported that when excess amounts of nitrogen and phosphorus were added to beach sand microcosms, hydrocarbon degradation rates were increased by approximately 16 times. In the present experiment, nutrient addition increased degradation rates by approximately 6 times. And the observed lag phase could result from the time required for microorganisms to adapt to the elevated nutrient concentrations. Both Mortazavi et al. (2013) and Singh et al. (2014) demonstrated much higher degradation rates than in the present study. This was likely due to the origin of the sediments. In both previous studies, samples were collected from shallow sandy

sediments, which generally maintain much higher rates of biogeochemical processes compared to deepsea sediments (Jorgensen, 1992)⁴⁰.

4.2 Hydrocarbon degrading bacteria cultivated from deepsea sediments

Characterization of microbial community composition in the enrichment cultures identified the active hydrocarbon degrading microbial groups in deepsea sediments as well as providing further evidence for oil as a selective force impacting indigenous microbial communities. The *in situ* microbial community was dominated by members of the *Xanthomonadales* in the *Gammaproteobacteria*, which is commonly observed in the marine environment. Genera from this order have been previously reported to degrade hydrocarbons^{41,42}. In the present study, however, the abundance of this group was significantly reduced in oil amended enrichments, indicating that the group may not mediate hydrocarbon degradation in the sediments studied here. The second most dominant group detected in situ was the genus *Nitrosopumilus* of the phylum *Crenarchaeota* which is also ubiquitously distributed in deepsea environments. Nitrosopumilus is a chemolithoautotrophic nitrifier that thrives under oligotrophic conditions.

Known hydrocarbon degrading microbial groups detected in this study was present as rare taxa in situ and then increased in relative abundance in cultures. At room temperature, the diversity of microbial communities rapidly decreased upon transfer in successive enrichments. Although a number of taxa were detected which have been linked to oil degradation (*Flavobacteraceae*, *Alteromonadaceae*, *Microbulbifer*), *Rhodococcus* appeared to outcompete nearly all other microbial groups by the fourth

transfer. The genus *Rhodococcus*, which belongs to the family *Nocardiaceae* of the Phylum Actinobacteria, is an aerobic, gram positive bacterial group. Rhodococcus isolates obtained in this study share 100% similarity with a *Rhodococcus erythropolis* strain, a well-studied hydrocarbon degrading species, which was first isolated from an oil–contaminated site in Antarctica⁴³. The *Rhodococcaceae* were detected in multiple environments impacted by the DWH oil discharge. For example, within months of the DWH discharge, *Rhodococcus* was detected in deep subsurface oil plumes sampled near the Macondo well. The organism was linked to hydrocarbon degradation in the deep plumes based on the enrichment of alkane 1-monooxygenase genes detected using a functional gene array. Although the relative abundance of *Rhodococcus* was low in 16S rRNA gene sequences retrieved from deepsea sediments, this study provides evidence that the genus may have contributed to the degradation of Macondo oil deposited onto the deep seafloor from the DWH discharge. Because the organism has been cultivated from the deep GOM as well as from Antarctica, *R. erythropolis* is likely active and may act as a good model organism for understanding the ecophysiology of hydrocarbon degradation under cold conditions.

In the 4 $\,^{\circ}$ C enrichment cultures, microbial communities were more diverse and remained so upon successive transfer. Members of the *Gammaproteobacteria*, which is known to contain many aerobic hydrocarbon degrading taxa, were predominant in the transfers. For example, members of the *Piscirickettsiaceae* showed a high relative abundance, and this family contains the genus *Cycloclasticus*, which was detected in many other studies of the DWH spill^{6,22,23}. Valentine et al. (2010) reported that this group was among the most important microbial groups capable of oil degradation the deepsea

subsurface plumes⁴⁴. *Oleispria* of the *Gammaproteobacteria* was also abundant in our cold enrichments, and this group was shown to be active in hydrocarbon degradation in the deep subsurface plumes in previous work⁴. OTUs from many other groups with hydrocarbon–degrading members, were also abundant in the 4 °C enrichments, including *Ochrobactrum*⁴⁵, *Pseudomonas*⁴⁶, *Hyphomonas*⁴⁷, *Alcanivorax*⁴⁸, and Marinobacter⁴⁹. Several of these genera were associated with the biodegradation process after the DWH discharge^{4,8,23}.

Although microbial community composition largely differed between enrichment cultures incubated at room temperature and 4 °C, rates of hydrocarbon degradation were similar. Thus, the results implicate functional redundancy and a role for temperature in the selection of hydrocarbon degraders. Since many of the dominant hydrocarbon degrading bacterial groups were not shared between room temperature and 4 °C enrichments, this may mean that community composition is not as important as nutrient limitation of hydrocarbon degradation⁵⁰. Interestingly, many of the taxa that increased in relative abundance at 4 °C were known piezophiles. It appears that temperature could be more important than pressure as a selective force in the structuring of hydrocarbon–degrading bacterial communities, as many piezophiles were abundant in the 4 °C enrichment, including as *Shewanella*⁵¹, *Pseudomonas*⁵², *Alcanivorax*⁵², *Marinobacter*⁵², *Rhodococcus*⁵², and Photobacteria⁵³. This information supports the findings of Schedler et al. (2014)⁵⁴, which demonstrated that for a piezophilic

4.3 Total petroleum hydrocarbon degradation

The sequestration and mineralization of the spilled oil will potentially affect the carbon cycle in the northern GOM. Using model microorganism to monitor carbon balance comes to the conclusion that polarized hydrocarbon concentration increases significantly during the biodegradation process, therefore further studies are required to understanding the degradation pathways for the biodegradation processes.

The carbon balance between substrate and products was not balanced with a GC–FID measurement. During the hydrocarbon biodegradation, the complexity of hydrocarbon significantly increases. Ruddy et al. (2014) showed the oil collected from Pensacola Beach doubled its complexity than MC252 source oil and dominated by oxygenated compounds⁵⁵. Major portion of these compounds were too polar to be measured by GC–FID⁵⁵. Aeppli et al. (2012) also provided evidence of oxyhydrocarbons were enriched due to biodegradation⁵⁶.

The carbon use efficiency was high for strain PC20 when growing on crude oil. According to Widdel et al, for a perfect ideal aerobe, the carbon use efficiency is approximately 68% ⁵⁷. This high incorporation capability can be possibly explained by the selective incorporation of hydrophobic n–alkanes into cell membranes⁵⁸, and still requires further investigation.

In conclusion, our results revealed that: first, nutrient limitation affects the hydrocarbon degradation rates, and indigenous microbial communities are not limited by temperature, even in the deep water. Second, the characterization of sediment microbial

community responding to oil contamination reveals the functional redundancy and temperature has been identified as a major factor in selecting hydrocarbon degraders. And third, *Rhodococcus* and *Halomonas* strains have been isolated from the deepsea sediments. Further investigation on this topic will be focusing on the relationship between nutrient availability and microbial community composition, as well as identify more hydrocarbon-degrading bacteria.

REFERENCES

- Atlas, R. M.; Hazen, T. C. Oil biodegradation and bioremediation: a tale of the two worst spills in U.S. history. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2011, 45, 6709–6715.
- (2) Ramseur, J. L. Deepwater Horizon Oil Spill : The Fate of the Oil; 2010.
- Lubchenco, J.; McNutt, M. K.; Dreyfus, G.; Murawski, S. a; Kennedy, D. M.;
 Anastas, P. T.; Chu, S.; Hunter, T. Science in support of the Deepwater Horizon response. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 2012, *109*, 20212–20221.
- (4) Hazen, T. C.; Dubinsky, E. a; DeSantis, T. Z.; Andersen, G. L.; Piceno, Y. M.;
 Singh, N.; Jansson, J. K.; Probst, A.; Borglin, S. E.; Fortney, J. L.; et al. Deep-sea
 oil plume enriches indigenous oil-degrading bacteria. *Science* 2010, *330*, 204–208.
- (5) Camilli, R.; Reddy, C. M.; Yoerger, D. R.; Van Mooy, B. a S.; Jakuba, M. V; Kinsey, J. C.; McIntyre, C. P.; Sylva, S. P.; Maloney, J. V. Tracking hydrocarbon plume transport and biodegradation at Deepwater Horizon. *Science* 2010, *330*, 201–204.
- (6) Valentine, D. L.; Fisher, G. B.; Bagby, S. C.; Nelson, R. K.; Reddy, C. M.; Sylva,
 S. P.; Woo, M. a. Fallout plume of submerged oil from Deepwater Horizon. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 2014, 1–6.
- (7) Leahy, J. G.; Colwell, R. R. Microbial degradation of hydrocarbons in the environment. *Microbiol. Rev.* **1990**, *54*, 305–315.

- Kostka, J. E.; Prakash, O.; Overholt, W. a; Green, S. J.; Freyer, G.; Canion, A.;
 Delgardio, J.; Norton, N.; Hazen, T. C.; Huettel, M. Hydrocarbon-degrading bacteria and the bacterial community response in gulf of Mexico beach sands impacted by the deepwater horizon oil spill. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 2011, 77, 7962–7974.
- (9) Viggor, S.; Juhanson, J.; Jõesaar, M.; Mitt, M.; Truu, J.; Vedler, E.; Heinaru, A.
 Dynamic changes in the structure of microbial communities in Baltic Sea coastal seawater microcosms modified by crude oil, shale oil or diesel fuel. *Microbiol. Res.* 2013, *168*, 415–427.
- (10) Yeager, T. R.; Braddock, J. F.; Brown, E. J. Microbial populations and hydrocarbon biodegradation potentials in fertilized shoreline sediments affected by the T / V Exxon Valdez oil Microbial Populations and Hydrocarbon Biodegradation Potentials in Fertilized Shoreline Sediments Affected by the T / . 1991.
- Mason, O. U.; Hazen, T. C.; Borglin, S.; Chain, P. S. G.; Dubinsky, E. a; Fortney,
 J. L.; Han, J.; Holman, H.-Y. N.; Hultman, J.; Lamendella, R.; et al. Metagenome,
 metatranscriptome and single-cell sequencing reveal microbial response to
 Deepwater Horizon oil spill. *ISME J.* 2012, *6*, 1715–1727.
- Mason, O. U.; Scott, N. M.; Gonzalez, A.; Robbins-Pianka, A.; Bælum, J.;Kimbrel, J.; Bouskill, N. J.; Prestat, E.; Borglin, S.; Joyner, D. C.; et al.

Metagenomics reveals sediment microbial community response to Deepwater Horizon oil spill. *ISME J.* **2014**, 1–12.

- (13) Torlapati, J.; Boufadel, M. C.; Prince, R. C.; Duran, R.; Pau, U. De. Evaluation of the biodegradation of Alaska North Slope oil in microcosms using the biodegradation model BIOB. **2014**, *5*, 1–15.
- Joye, S. B.; Teske, a. P.; Kostka, J. E. Microbial Dynamics Following the Macondo Oil Well Blowout across Gulf of Mexico Environments. *Bioscience* 2014, 64, 766–777.
- (15) Liu, Y.; Weisberg, R. H.; Hu, C.; Zheng, L. Combing Numberical Ocean
 Circulation Models With Satellite Observations in a Trajectory Forecast System: A
 Rapid Response to the Deepwater Horizon Oil Spill. *Ocean Sens. Monit. III* 2011, 8030, 80300K1–K80300K9.
- (16) Choi, Y.; Takahashi, K.; Abe, A.; Shigeru, N.; Sou, A. Received December 12, 2011 Japan Agency for Marine-Earth Science and Technology *** Graduate School of Maritime Science, Kobe University. *Japan Inst. Mar. Eng.* 2011, 48, 105–109.
- (17) Liu, Y.; Weisberg, R. H.; Hu, C.; Zheng, L. Tracking the Deepwater Horizon Oil
 Spill : A Modeling Perspective. *Eos, Trans. Am. Geophys. Union* 2011, 92, 46–46.

- (18) Vilc éz, J.; Li, L.; Hubbard, S. S. A new model for the biodegradation kinetics of oil droplets: application to the Deepwater Horizon oil spill in the Gulf of Mexico. *Geochem. Trans.* 2013, 14, 4.
- (19) Baelum, J.; Borglin, S.; Chakraborty, R.; Fortney, J. L.; Lamendella, R.; Mason,
 O. U.; Auer, M.; Zemla, M.; Bill, M.; Conrad, M. E.; et al. Deep-sea bacteria
 enriched by oil and dispersant from the Deepwater Horizon spill. *Environ. Microbiol.* 2012, *14*, 2405–2416.
- (20) Edwards, B. R.; Reddy, C. M.; Camilli, R.; Carmichael, C. a; Longnecker, K.; Van Mooy, B. a S. Rapid microbial respiration of oil from the Deepwater Horizon spill in offshore surface waters of the Gulf of Mexico. *Environ. Res. Lett.* 2011, *6*, 035301.
- (21) Pomeroy, L. R.; Sheldon, J. E.; Sheldon Jr, W. M.; Peters, F. Limits to growth and respiration of bacterioplankton in the Gulf of Mexico. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 1995, 177, 259–268.
- (22) Dubinsky, E. a; Conrad, M. E.; Chakraborty, R.; Bill, M.; Borglin, S. E.;
 Hollibaugh, J. T.; Mason, O. U.; M Piceno, Y.; Reid, F. C.; Stringfellow, W. T.; et al. Succession of Hydrocarbon-Degrading Bacteria in the Aftermath of the Deepwater Horizon Oil Spill in the Gulf of Mexico. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2013, 47, 10860–10867.

- (23) Chakraborty, R.; Borglin, S. E.; Dubinsky, E. a; Andersen, G. L.; Hazen, T. C.
 Microbial Response to the MC-252 Oil and Corexit 9500 in the Gulf of Mexico.
 Front. Microbiol. 2012, *3*, 357.
- Mortazavi, B.; Horel, A.; Beazley, M. J.; Sobecky, P. a. Intrinsic rates of petroleum hydrocarbon biodegradation in Gulf of Mexico intertidal sandy sediments and its enhancement by organic substrates. *J. Hazard. Mater.* 2013, 244-245, 537–544.
- (25) Overholt, W. A.; Green, S. J.; Marks, K. P.; Venkatraman, R.; Prakash, O.;
 Kostka, E. Draft Genome Sequences for Oil-Degrading Bacterial Strains from Beach Sands Impacted by the Deepwater Horizon Oil Spill. 2013, *1*, 1–2.
- (26) Head, I. M.; Jones, D. M.; Röling, W. F. M. Marine microorganisms make a meal of oil. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.* **2006**, *4*, 173–182.
- (27) Gutierrez, T.; Singleton, D. R.; Berry, D.; Yang, T.; Aitken, M. D.; Teske, A.
 Hydrocarbon-degrading bacteria enriched by the Deepwater Horizon oil spill identified by cultivation and DNA-SIP. *ISME J.* 2013, 1–14.
- (28) Pelz, O.; Brown, J.; Huddleston, M.; Rand, G.; Gardinali, P.; Stubblefield, W.;
 Benkinney, M. T.; Ahnell, A. Selection of a Surrogate MC252 Oil as a Reference
 Material for Future Aquatic Toxicity Tests and Other Studies. *SETAC 2011 Meet. Boston, MA, 2011.* 252.

- Widdel, F. Cultivation of Anaerobic Microorganisms with Hydrocarbons as Growth Substrates. In *Handbook of Hydrocarbon and Lipid Microbiology*; Timmis, K. N., Ed.; Springer Berlin Heidelberg: Berlin, Heidelberg, 2010; pp. 3788–3797.
- (30) Caporaso, J. G.; Kuczynski, J.; Stombaugh, J.; Bittinger, K.; Bushman, F. D.;
 Costello, E. K.; Fierer, N.; Peña, A. G.; Goodrich, J. K.; Gordon, J. I.; et al. QIIME allows analysis of high-throughput comunity sequencing data. *Nat. Methods* 2010, 7, 335–336.
- (31) Edgar, R. C. Search and clustering orders of magnitude faster than BLAST.*Bioinformatics* 2010, 26, 2460–2461.
- (32) EPA. Method 3510C Separatory funnel liquid-liquid extraction. 1996, 1–8.
- (33) Sinsabaugh, R. L.; Manzoni, S.; Moorhead, D. L.; Richter, A. Carbon use efficiency of microbial communities: stoichiometry, methodology and modelling. *Ecol. Lett.* 2013, *16*, 930–939.
- (34) Yue, H.; Ling, C.; Yang, T.; Chen, X.; Chen, Y.; Deng, H.; Wu, Q.; Chen, J.;
 Chen, G.-Q. A seawater-based open and continuous process for polyhydroxyalkanoates production by recombinant Halomonas campaniensis LS21 grown in mixed substrates. *Biotechnol. Biofuels* 2014, *7*, 108.
- (35) Turner, R.; Rabalais, N. Nitrogen and phosphorus phytoplankton growth limitation in the northern Gulf of Mexico. *Aquat. Microb. Ecol.* **2013**, *68*, 159–169.

- (36) Reddy, C. M.; Arey, J. S.; Seewald, J. S.; Sylva, S. P.; Lemkau, K. L.; Nelson, R. K.; Carmichael, C. a; McIntyre, C. P.; Fenwick, J.; Ventura, G. T.; et al. Composition and fate of gas and oil released to the water column during the Deepwater Horizon oil spill. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 2012, *109*, 20229–20234.
- (37) Liu, Z.; Liu, J.; Gardner, W. S.; Shank, G. C.; Ostrom, N. E. The impact of Deepwater Horizon oil spill on petroleum hydrocarbons in surface waters of the northern Gulf of Mexico. *Deep Sea Res. Part II Top. Stud. Oceanogr.* 2014, 1–9.
- (38) Guti érrez, T.; Mulloy, B.; Black, K.; Green, D. H. Glycoprotein emulsifiers from two marine Halomonas species: chemical and physical characterization. *J. Appl. Microbiol.* 2007, *103*, 1716–1727.
- (39) Mortazavi, B.; Horel, A.; Anders, J. S.; Mirjafari, A.; Beazley, M. J.; Sobecky, P.
 a. Enhancing the biodegradation of oil in sandy sediments with choline: a naturally methylated nitrogen compound. *Environ. Pollut.* 2013, *182*, 53–62.
- (40) Huettel, M.; Berg, P.; Kostka, J. E. Benthic exchange and biogeochemical cycling in permeable sediments. *Ann. Rev. Mar. Sci.* 2014, 6, 23–51.
- (41) Gutierrez, T.; Green, D. H.; Nichols, P. D.; Whitman, W. B.; Semple, K. T.;
 Aitken, M. D. Polycyclovorans algicola gen. nov., sp. nov., an aromatichydrocarbon-degrading marine bacterium found associated with laboratory cultures of marine phytoplankton. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 2013, 79, 205–214.

- (42) Zhou, Y.; Zhang, Y.-Q.; Zhi, X.-Y.; Wang, X.; Dong, J.; Chen, Y.; Lai, R.; Li, W.-J. Description of Sinobacter flavus gen. nov., sp. nov., and proposal of Sinobacteraceae fam. nov. *Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol.* 2008, *58*, 184–189.
- (43) Bej, A. K.; Saul, D.; Aislabie, J. Cold-tolerant alkane-degrading Rhodococcus species from Antarctica. *Polar Biol.* 2000, 23, 100–105.
- (44) Valentine, D. L.; Kessler, J. D.; Redmond, M. C.; Mendes, S. D.; Heintz, M. B.;
 Farwell, C.; Hu, L.; Kinnaman, F. S.; Yvon-Lewis, S.; Du, M.; et al. Propane
 respiration jump-starts microbial response to a deep oil spill. *Science* 2010, *330*, 208–211.
- (45) Kanaly, R. A.; Harayama, S. Biodegradation of High-Molecular-Weight
 Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons by Bacteria MINIREVIEW Biodegradation of
 High-Molecular-Weight Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons by Bacteria. 2000,
 182.
- (46) Thijsse, G. J. E.; Linden, A. C. V. A. N. D. E. R. Pathways of Hydrocarbon
 Dissimilation by a Pseudomonas as Revealed by Chloramphenicol. 1963, 29, 89–100.
- (47) Kappell, A. D.; Wei, Y.; Newton, R. J.; Van Nostrand, J. D.; Zhou, J.; McLellan,
 S. L.; Hristova, K. R. The polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon degradation potential of Gulf of Mexico native coastal microbial communities after the Deepwater Horizon oil spill. *Front. Microbiol.* 2014, *5*, 205.

- (48) Hara, A.; Syutsubo, K.; Harayama, S. Alcanivorax which prevails in oilcontaminated seawater exhibits broad substrate specificity for alkane degradation. *Environ. Microbiol.* 2003, *5*, 746–753.
- (49) Christen, R.; Fernandez, L.; Acquaviva, M. Marinobacter hydrocarbonoclasticus gen. nov., sp. nov., a New , Extremely Halotolerant , Hydrocarbon-Degrading Marine Bacterium. *Int. J. Syst. Bacteriol.* 1992, 42, 568–576.
- (50) Rosenfeld, J. S.; Mall, M.; British, U. Functional redundancy in ecology and conservation. *Forum Fam. Plan. West. Hemisph.* **2002**, *1*, 156–162.
- Lauro, F. M.; Chastain, R. A.; Ferriera, S.; Johnson, J.; Yayanos, A. A.; Bartlett,
 D. H. Draft Genome Sequence of the Deep-Sea Bacterium Shewanella. *Genome Announc.* 2013, *1*, 14–15.
- (52) Tapilatu, Y.; Acquaviva, M.; Guigue, C.; Miralles, G.; Bertrand, J.-C.; Cuny, P. Isolation of alkane-degrading bacteria from deep-sea Mediterranean sediments. *Lett. Appl. Microbiol.* 2010, *50*, 234–236.
- Lauro, F. M.; Chastain, R. a; Blankenship, L. E.; Yayanos, a A.; Bartlett, D. H.
 The unique 16S rRNA genes of piezophiles reflect both phylogeny and adaptation. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 2007, *73*, 838–845.
- (54) Schedler, M.; Hiessl, R.; Valladares Ju árez, A.; Gust, G.; Müller, R. Effect of high pressure on hydrocarbon-degrading bacteria. *AMB Express* **2014**, *4*, 77.

- Ruddy, B. M.; Huettel, M.; Kostka, J. E.; Lobodin, V. V.; Bythell, B. J.; McKenna, A. M.; Aeppli, C.; Reddy, C. M.; Nelson, R. K.; Marshall, A. G.; et al. Targeted Petroleomics: Analytical Investigation of Macondo Well Oil Oxidation Products from Pensacola Beach. *Energy & Fuels* 2014, 28, 4043–4050.
- (56) Aeppli, C.; Carmichael, C. A.; Nelson, R. K.; Lemkau, K. L.; Graham, W. M.;
 Redmond, M. C.; Valentine, D. L.; Reddy, C. M. Oil Weathering after the
 Deepwater Horizon Disaster Led to the Formation of Oxygenated Residues. 2012.
- (57) Widdel, F.; Musat, F. Handbook of Hydrocarbon and Lipid Microbiology: Charpter 1. Energetic and Other Quantitative Aspects of Microbial Hydrocarbon Utilization; 2010; pp. 732–753.
- (58) Kim, I. S.; Foght, J. M.; Gray, M. R. Selective transport and accumulation of alkanes by Rhodococcus erythropolis S+14He. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.* 2002, *80*, 650–659.